RECEIVED

Oct 27 2021

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM CHARLESTON COUNTY COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

Court of Common Pleas

Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Judge

Irvin G. Condon, Probate Judge

Tamara C. Curry, Associate Probate Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-001152

Court of Common Pleas Case No. 2020-CP-10-04036

Probate Court Case No. 2017-ES-10-01946

IN THE ESTATE OF ROY E. MEVERS, JR.,

SOUTH CAROLINA ATTORNEY GENERAL,

Respondent,

versus

MINNIE LEE NEWMAN-MEVERS,

Appellant,

versus

J. JAMES DUGGAN, as Special Administrator of the Estate of Roy E. Mevers, Jr.,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Daniel F. Blanchard, III

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the Probate Court err by granting Respondent South Carolina Attorney General's ("Respondent") motion for an *ex parte* temporary restraining order (TRO) in contravention of the requirements of S.C. R. CIV. PRO. 65(b) and by not affording Appellant notice of the motion or an opportunity to be heard prior to issuance of the *ex parte* TRO when Appellant's counsel had been actively engaged in dialogue and exchange of information with Respondent concerning the subject matters in this action for several months before this action was filed, Respondent made no attempt to contact Appellant or her counsel about a hearing before the *ex parte* TRO was sought and obtained, and Respondent did not show or present specific facts by affidavit or verified complaint that immediate and irreparable injury, loss, or damage will result to Respondent before notice could be served on Appellant and a hearing had thereon?

II. Did the Probate Court err by reopening Decedent Roy E. Mevers, Jr.'s estate and granting Respondent's *ex parte* petition for appointment of a special administrator pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-3-614 without affording Appellant notice of the petition or an opportunity to be heard on the merits when Appellant had been serving as Personal Representative of the Decedent's estate when the Probate Court previously closed his estate?

III. Did the Probate Court err by extending the *ex parte* TRO for a duration beyond the initial ten days permitted by S.C. R. CIV. PRO. 65(b) when Respondent served no motion on Appellant to extend the *ex parte* TRO and he made no motion for a temporary injunction, preliminary injunction, or any relief beyond a TRO?

IV. Did the Probate Court err by granting a temporary injunction or preliminary injunction and ordering Appellant to render an accounting when Respondent's motion merely requested an *ex parte* TRO "effective from the date and time of issuance and for a period of 10 days thereafter" and the *ex parte* TRO expired within ten days of its issuance in accordance with South Carolina law, and Respondent had not served any motion seeking an extension of the *ex parte* TRO or seeking a temporary injunction, preliminary injunction, or any relief beyond an *ex parte* TRO and Appellant had not been provided notice of any motion or hearing on any such matters?

V. Is the Probate Court's Order granting a temporary injunction or preliminary injunction and ordering Appellant to render an accounting void for lack of subject matter jurisdiction when a timely Notice of Removal and Motion to Remove Action to Circuit Court was filed and served pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-1-302(d) before the Probate Court entered its Order?

VI. Did the Probate Court err by granting a temporary or preliminary injunction in favor of Respondent when the facts and evidence demonstrated that an adequate remedy is available at law, Respondent is not likely to succeed on the merits, and Respondent would not suffer irreparable harm if the injunction is denied?

VII. Did the Probate Court err by finding or holding that Respondent has no adequate remedy at law and will suffer irreparable harm when the injury the Respondent alleges in his Petition can be remedied by monetary relief after a trial on the merits?

VIII. Did the Probate Court err by finding or holding that Respondent is likely to succeed on the merits of his claim when Respondent cannot assert claims or causes of action on behalf of and/or belonging to The “Sonny Mevers” Foundation (hereinafter “Foundation”) because the Foundation was a South Carolina nonprofit corporation that was dissolved prior to commencement of this action, such dissolution has not been revoked, the statutory period for the Foundation’s dissolution to be revoked or to have its charter reinstated has expired, and the Foundation no longer has the right, power, or ability to pursue any claims as a matter of law?

IX. Did the Probate Court err by finding or holding that Respondent is likely to succeed on the merits of his claim when Respondent lacks standing or capacity to assert claims on behalf of or belonging to the Foundation and Respondent is not a real party in interest or proper party to this action?

X. Did the Probate Court err by finding or holding that Respondent is likely to succeed on the merits of his claim when his action seeks to assert the rights or interests of Foundation as the alleged residuary beneficiary of the Decedent’s estate, but the Foundation failed to satisfy the express conditions in the Decedent’s Will and Codicils necessary for it to become the residuary beneficiary because at the time of the Decedent’s death and/or when the estate was distributed (a) the Foundation could not qualify as a charitable organization within the meaning of Section 2055 of the IRC and (b) a gift or devise from the estate to the Foundation would not be permitted as a charitable deduction for federal estate tax purposes, both of which were necessary conditions to the Foundation’s receipt of any benefits under the terms of the Decedent’s Will and Codicils?

XI. Did the Circuit Court err by affirming the Probate Court’s Orders?

INTRODUCTION

For several compelling reasons—procedural, jurisdictional, and substantive—this Court should reverse the Circuit Judge’s Form 4 Order dated September 10, 2021 that affirmed without discussion (a) the Probate Court’s *ex parte* Orders dated March 13, 2020, which granted Respondent South Carolina Attorney General’s (“SCAG”) motion for a temporary restraining order and appointed a Special Administrator (hereinafter “*ex parte* TRO”), and (b) the Probate Court’s Order dated June 29, 2020, which granted a preliminary injunction and ordered Appellant Minnie Lee Newman-Mevers (“Appellant”) to render an accounting (hereinafter “Preliminary Injunction”).

First, the Circuit Judge erred by affirming the Probate Court’s *ex parte* TRO dated March 13, 2020, which disregarded the mandates of S.C. R. CIV. PRO. 65(b) and failed to afford Appellant notice or an opportunity to be heard prior to its issuance when the SCAG knew of Appellant’s whereabouts, Appellant’s counsel had been actively engaged in dialogue and exchange of information with the SCAG involving these subject matters for several months before this action was filed, the SCAG made no attempt to contact Appellant or her counsel about a hearing before obtaining the *ex parte* TRO, and the SCAG did not present specific facts by affidavit or verified complaint showing an emergency or that “immediate and irreparable injury, loss, or damage will result” to him before notice could be served on Appellant and a hearing conducted.

Second, the Circuit Judge erred by affirming the Probate Court’s June 29, 2020 Order granting a Preliminary Injunction and ordering Appellant to render an accounting when the SCAG’s motion merely requested an *ex parte* TRO “effective from the date and time of issuance and for a period of 10 days thereafter,” which expired ten days after its issuance in accordance with Rule 65(b), and the SCAG never filed or served any motion for an extension of the *ex parte* TRO or requesting a preliminary injunction, thus Appellant was not provided notice of any such motion. The

matter of a preliminary injunction was not before the Probate Court when it conducted a hearing on March 23, 2020. The Probate Court further erred by extending the *ex parte* TRO for a duration beyond that permitted by Rule 65(b)'s terms and by refusing Appellant's request for leave to file additional affidavits in response to matters which the SCAG raised for the first time at the hearing conducted on March 23, 2020.

Third, when the Probate Court entered its Preliminary Injunction on June 29, 2020 and required Appellant to render an accounting, that Court no longer possessed subject matter jurisdiction to grant such relief because a Notice of Removal and Motion to Remove Action to Circuit Court had previously been timely filed and served on May 12, 2020 in accordance with S.C. CODE ANN. § 62-1-302(d), thereby divesting the Probate Court of subject matter jurisdiction over the matter. Thus, the Preliminary Injunction is void for lack of subject matter jurisdiction.

Finally, the Circuit Judge erred by affirming the Probate Court's holding that the SCAG satisfied the prerequisites for the issuance of a preliminary injunction—(1) irreparable harm, (2) likelihood of success on the merits, and (3) inadequate remedy at law. As a matter of law, the SCAG failed to prove he would suffer irreparable harm if a preliminary injunction was not issued and that he lacked an adequate remedy at law because the injury he alleges in his Petition can be remedied by monetary relief after a trial on the merits. The Circuit Judge also erred by affirming the Probate Court's holding that the SCAG's derivative lawsuit seeking to assert claims on behalf of and belonging to The "Sonny Mevers" Foundation (hereinafter "Foundation") is likely to succeed on the merits when the Foundation was dissolved on January 24, 2018 before commencement of this action, its dissolution has not been revoked, the statutory period for the Foundation's dissolution to be revoked has long expired, and the Foundation no longer has the right to pursue any claims as a matter of law. Respondent lacks standing or capacity to assert claims on behalf of the Foundation

and is not a real party in interest because he cannot pursue claims that the Foundation itself—a dissolved corporation—can no longer pursue. Notably, the Foundation itself has not brought this action or sought to join in the SCAG’s lawsuit.

The Circuit Judge further erred by affirming the Probate Court’s holding that the SCAG is likely to succeed on the merits of his claim when the Foundation (whose interests the SCAG is attempting to pursue) was disqualified from taking under the late Roy E. Mevers, Jr.’s (“Decedent”) Will and Codicils as the alleged residuary beneficiary of his estate. The Foundation failed to satisfy the express conditions in the Decedent’s Will and Codicils necessary for it to have a vested interest as the residuary beneficiary of his estate because at the time of the Decedent’s death and when the estate was distributed (1) the Foundation could not qualify as a charitable organization within the meaning of Section 2055 of the IRC and (2) a gift or devise from the estate to the Foundation would not be permitted as a charitable deduction for federal estate tax purposes, both of which were necessary conditions to the Foundation’s receipt of any benefits under the terms of the Decedent’s Will and Codicils.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This case originated in the Probate Court. Appellant is the Decedent’s widow. See Wentworth Aff. ¶6. Decedent died on November 3, 2017. Id. Appellant was appointed as Personal Representative of Decedent’s estate on November 13, 2017. Id. ¶5.

On December 19, 2017, Jessica Wentworth, Esquire was substituted as Appellant’s counsel in her role as Personal Representative for the estate. See Wentworth Aff. ¶5; Motions & Orders Withdraw and Substitute Counsel.¹ Ms. Wentworth is a local attorney whose practice focuses

¹ Ms. Wentworth replaced Irvin Slotchiver, Esquire, who initially served as counsel for Appellant in her role as Personal Representative. Mr. Slotchiver filed the initial application on November 13,

primarily on estate planning, probate administration, and real estate transactions. See Wentworth Aff. ¶¶1-4. Appellant also hired H. Christopher Moss, who is both a Certified Public Accountant (CPA) and tax attorney with over 35 years of experience, to serve as advisor on tax and Internal Revenue Service (IRS) related matters. See Wentworth Aff. ¶5; Moss Aff. ¶¶6, 17.²

In 2004, many years before marrying Appellant, Decedent had formed the Foundation as a South Carolina non-profit organization. See Art. of Inc. Via an IRS determination letter issued on July 21, 2005, the Foundation initially was granted tax-exempt status as a private, nonoperating foundation under § 501(c)(3) of the IRC. See IRS letter 7.21.05. However, effective on November 15, 2017, the IRS revoked the Foundation's federal tax-exempt status under IRC § 501(c)(3) for failure to file the required annual returns for three consecutive years. See IRS letter posted 3.19.18. The Foundation's tax-exempt status has never been reinstated.

On January 23, 2018, the Foundation was dissolved as an entity with the South Carolina Secretary of State with an effective date of January 24, 2018. See Art. of Diss.; Sec. of State page. The Foundation filed Articles of Dissolution for a Nonprofit Corporation with the Secretary of State on January 24, 2018, and thereby forfeited its charter. Id. State statutory law provides that the Foundation could revoke its dissolution within 120 days of its effective date, which did not occur.

2017 opening the Estate and obtained Appellant's appointment as Personal Representative.

²The SCAG has erroneously suggested that Mr. Moss engaged in the unauthorized practice of law when he rendered advice to Appellant on tax and IRS matters while she was administering Decedent's estate in the Probate Court because he is not licensed as a lawyer in South Carolina. The Probate Court and Circuit Court made no such findings in their Orders.

Mr. Moss is licensed as a CPA in Virginia and South Carolina as well as the District of Columbia. He is also licensed as a lawyer in Virginia and the District of Columbia. He assisted Ms. Wentworth (a lawyer licensed in this state) with her representation of Appellant as is expressly permitted by our rules of professional conduct. See S.C. R. PROF. RESP. 5.5(c). Additionally, a CPA such as Mr. Moss does not engage in unauthorized practice of law in this state when he renders professional assistance within his professional expertise and qualifications. In re Unauthorized Practice of Law Rules Proposed by S.C. Bar, 309 S.C. 304, 422 S.E.2d 123 (1992).

See S.C. CODE ANN. § 33-31-1404(a). The statutory period for the Foundation to revoke its dissolution expired on May 24, 2018. No such revocation of dissolution was applied for or occurred.

Decedent died testate while married to Appellant. His Last Will and Testament, as well as two Codicils amending his original Will, were prepared by Irvin Slotchiver, Esquire. See Wentworth Aff. ¶6. Article XII of Decedent’s original Will, which was made before he married Appellant, specifically provided for the disposition of his residuary estate:

I give devise and bequeath my entire residuary estate, being all real and personal property, wherever situated, in which I may have any interest at the time of my death, not otherwise effectively disposed of, to THE “SONNY MEVERS” FOUNDATION, *if it is in existence at the time of my death and on the condition that it is an organization that is charitable within the meaning of Section 2055 of the Internal Revenue Code, as amended, and on the further condition that this gift is permitted as a charitable deduction from my Estate for Federal Estate Tax purposes, absolutely and in fee simple, forever.*

See Will dated 11.16.15 (emphasis added).

After Decedent married Appellant on September 12, 2016, he later executed a Codicil to his Will amending Article XII so as to add the following sentence to the conclusion of that article:

Otherwise, I give, devise and bequeath my said entire residuary estate to my Spouse, MINNIE LEE NEWMAN MEVERS, absolutely and in fee simple, forever, on the condition that she shall survive me.

See Codicil dated 4.12.17.

Under the terms and provisions of Decedent’s Will, the Foundation’s status as the outright beneficiary of Decedent’s residuary estate would vest *provided* the Foundation was in existence at the time of Decedent’s death *and* it satisfied the other “conditions” set forth in Article XII. See Wentworth Aff. ¶12; Moss Aff. ¶15; Owens Aff. ¶12. The Will sets forth specific conditions that the Foundation must satisfy to qualify for receipt of the gift or distribution of the residuary estate—that (a) it is an organization which is charitable within the meaning of Section 2055 of the Internal Revenue Code (IRC) and (b) that the gift is permitted as a charitable deduction from Decedent’s

estate for federal estate tax purposes. If either of those conditions were not satisfied either at the time of Decedent's death or when the estate assets were to be distributed, then the devise or gift to the Foundation either did not vest or, if it vested, it lapsed or was cancelled and instead devolved to Appellant. See Wentworth Aff. ¶13; Moss Aff. ¶16; Owens Aff. ¶13.

Decedent had created the Foundation in 2004, before he had even met Appellant. Because Ms. Wentworth is not a CPA or tax attorney, Appellant contacted Mr. Moss, who is both a CPA and a tax attorney, to serve as advisor on tax and IRS related matters, including the question of whether the Foundation satisfied the conditions in Article XII of the Will. See Wentworth Aff. ¶¶5, 14; Moss Aff. ¶17. Mr. Moss investigated the matter and concluded that the Foundation was a sham and it had no real substance. See Moss Aff. ¶¶18-19.

Among other things, Mr. Moss learned the Foundation had not filed the required tax information returns (Form 990-PF) for the years 2014, 2015, and 2016 and he could find no other reporting or other documentation to the IRS or another regulatory body concerning its operations during these periods. See Moss Aff. ¶18; Wentworth Aff. ¶14; Owens Aff. ¶15. He determined the Foundation had no real corporate records or documentation (outside its initial formation documents) that evidenced the Foundation had been, and was continuing, to be organized and operated exclusively for charitable purposes. Id. He learned that almost the entirety of the Foundation's Board members had conflicts of interest as they primarily comprised persons with whom Decedent transacted business raising a number of concerns regarding self-dealing under IRC § 4941. Id. There were no records of when and how long these individuals were serving as directors, whether they were in fact appointed, or had ever approved any transactions, the compensation arrangements, or any charitable activities, grants, or any other matters required of individuals acting as directors. Id. The Foundation had no bookkeeping or records, had not conducted periodic meetings or recorded

minutes of meetings as required in the bylaws, had no records of appointments of directors or officers, had no staff or employees, and had no office. Id. In short, Mr. Moss concluded the Foundation had no substance. Id. It had no documentation that could demonstrate it had been actually operated by a board of directors to further exclusively charitable purposes. Id.

Based on his considerable experience in the field of taxation and with tax audits by the IRS, Mr. Moss concluded the Foundation could not withstand an IRS audit, it could not qualify as a charitable organization within the meaning of IRC § 2055, and a devise from the Estate to the Foundation would not be permitted as a charitable deduction for federal estate tax purposes. See Moss Aff. ¶19; Wentworth Aff. ¶15; Owens Aff. ¶18. Ms. Wentworth and Appellant were concerned it would be fraudulent or possibly even criminal to file papers taking the position that the Foundation was tax-exempt. See Wentworth Aff. ¶15.

The IRS confirmed Mr. Moss's finding about the Foundation when it revoked its federal tax-exempt status under IRC § 501(c)(3) effective on November 15, 2017. See Moss Aff. ¶21; Wentworth Aff. ¶16. As of that date, the Foundation was a taxable c-corporation. Id. This occurred a mere two days after Appellant had been appointed as Personal Representative.

On January 23, 2018, the Foundation was dissolved for the reasons pointed out by Mr. Moss. See Moss Aff. ¶22. The Foundation filed Articles of Dissolution for a Nonprofit Corporation with the South Carolina Secretary of State on January 24, 2018, and the Foundation ceased to exist. Id.

Decedent's estate was administered based on the determinations the Foundation had not satisfied the conditions in the Will, the devise or gift to the Foundation had lapsed or was canceled, and Appellant was the residuary beneficiary under the Will. See Wentworth Aff. ¶17; Moss Aff. ¶23. With Ms. Wentworth's assistance, Appellant filed a Proposal for Distribution (Form #410ES) with the Probate Court on November 21, 2018, along with a Final Accounting (Form #361ES),

Application for Settlement (Form #412ES), and Notice of Right to Demand Hearing (Form #416ES), which clearly disclosed that Appellant would receive the residuary estate as part of the proposed distribution of Decedent's estate. Id.; see Prop. for Distr.; Final Accounting; Appl. for Settlement; Notice. Because the Foundation was not a proper residuary beneficiary, these actions were completely proper and were mandated by the terms and provisions of Decedent's Will.

All of the 28 beneficiaries who received distributions from the estate signed a Receipt and Release with Waiver (Form #403ES) and none responded to the notice of right to demand a hearing, or filed any objection to the Proposal for Distribution or Application for Settlement. See Wentworth Aff. ¶18; Moss Aff. ¶24. None of the directors or officers of the Foundation contested the probate process, its revocation of exempt status on November 15, 2017, or the subsequent dissolution of the Foundation. See Wentworth Aff. ¶19; Moss Aff. ¶25.

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