RECEIVED

Apr 05 2022

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

Appeal from Charleston
County Court of Common Pleas
Jennifer B. McCoy, Circuit Court Judge
Probate Court
Irvin G. Condon, Probate Judge
Tamara C. Curry, Associate Probate Judge

Appellate Case No. 2021-001152
Common Pleas Case No. 2020-CP-10-04036
Probate Case No. 2017-ES-10-01946

In the Matter of: The Estate of Roy E. Mevers, Jr.

South Carolina Attorney General, Respondent,

v.

Minnie Lee Newman Mevers, Appellant

v.

J. James Duggan, Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT SOUTH CAROLINA ATTORNEY GENERAL

SOUTH CAROLINA ATTORNEY GENERAL

ALAN WILSON (S.C. Bar No. 71754)

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

ARGUMENT

I. The appeal of the Temporary Restraining Order should be dismissed, or in the alternative, the Order should be affirmed.

A. The Circuit Court did not have subject matter jurisdiction to consider the appeal of the Temporary Restraining Order.

S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-308(a) addresses the circumstances upon which an appeal may be taken. This section provides “[a] person interested in a final order, sentence, or decree of a probate court may appeal to the circuit court” The Temporary Restraining Order is not a “final” order for which an appeal may be sought under S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-308 or the general rules of appellate practice. An order from the probate court that is not a final order is not reviewable under § 62-1-308. *Fulmer v. Cain*, 380 S.C. 466, 469, 670 S.E.2d 652, 654 (2008). Courts of Common Pleas lack subject matter jurisdiction over appeals of a temporary order issued by a probate court. *Estate of Boyce v. Work*, 305 S.C. 43, 44, 406 S.E.2d 184, 185 (Ct. App. 1991).

Piecemeal appeals and dispositions of cases are not favored under South Carolina law. “The basic policy behind denying immediate review of pretrial motions is avoidance of piecemeal litigation where the rights of the parties have not been substantially impacted.” *Watson v. Underwood*, 407 S.C. 443, 458, 756 S.E.2d 155, 163 (Ct. App. 2014) (citing *Breland v. Love Chevrolet Olds, Inc.*, 339 S.C. 89, 94, 529 S.E.2d 11, 13 (2000)).

A temporary restraining order is by its nature temporary because it applies only from the period of the order itself to the follow-up hearing, which in this case was 10 days later. In the present case, based upon the language of the statute and the policy considerations set forth by our appellate courts, the appeal of the Temporary Restraining Order should be dismissed because the Circuit Court did not have subject matter jurisdiction.

B. Standard of Review

The decision to grant or deny temporary injunctive relief is within the sound discretion of the trial judge and will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion. *City of Columbia v. Pic-A-Flick Video, Inc.*, 340 S.C. 278, 282, 531 S.E.2d 518, 520 (2000). An abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court's decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law. *Zabinski v. Bright Acres Assocs.*, 346 S.C. 580, 601, 553 S.E.2d 110, 121 (2001).

C. The Probate Court did not abuse its discretion in issuing the Temporary Restraining Order.

If this Court addresses the merits of the issuance of the Temporary Restraining Order, the record shows the Probate Court had more than adequate factual and legal support to issue the Temporary Restraining Order in order to preserve the status quo and until a hearing, scheduled for 10 days after the issuance of the Order, could be held. The Probate Court did not abuse its discretion in issuing the order, and it should be affirmed.

When the Probate Court was presented with a motion for the issuance of a temporary restraining order, it had before it evidence by way of a verified petition and a motion establishing the following:

- Appellant purportedly dissolved the Foundation, which was created by her husband and by the express terms of his will, and the Foundation was arguably entitled to the \$19 million residuary of his Estate;
- Appellant changed the plan of distribution filed with the Probate Court showing that she, rather than the Foundation, would be receiving these funds without bringing the matter to the attention of the Probate Court or any other agency or entity;

- Appellant had already sold properties (which the Attorney General asserted should have passed to the Foundation) for many millions of dollars;
- All other properties that had not been sold had been transferred to LLCs, the ownership of which was and remains unknown to this Court or the Probate Court;
- Appellant failed to give the required notice to the Attorney General when she and only one other member of the Foundation’s board (after the others were terminated or asked to resign by Appellant) “voted” to dissolve the Foundation so Appellant could personally claim an entitlement to and ultimately take the \$19 million residuary of the Estate;
- Appellant or others acting at her request were being less than truthful or forthcoming with the Attorney General as his office attempted to comply with applicable laws relating to the attempts at the dissolution of the Foundation once the matter came to his attention; and
- Appellant was unwilling to agree via consent that she would refrain from dissipating Foundation assets pending the resolution of this matter.

(R. 5-9, 17-26, 74-78).

Rule 65(b), SCRCPC, explains that “No temporary restraining order shall be granted without notice of motion for the order to the adverse party unless it clearly appears from specific facts shown by affidavit or by a verified complaint that immediate and irreparable injury, loss or damage will result to the applicant before notice can be served and a hearing had thereon.” “[T]he sole purpose of a temporary injunction is to preserve the status quo” *Powell v. Immanuel Baptist Church*, 261 S.C. 219, 221, 199 S.E.2d 60, 61 (1973). “[A] temporary injunction is [used] to

preserve the subject of controversy in the condition which it is at the time of the Order until opportunity is offered for full and deliberate investigation and to preserve the existing status during litigation....” *County Council of Charleston v. Felkel*, 244 S.C. 480, 483–84, 137 S.E.2d 577, 578 (1964).

As explained in the Verified Petition, the Foundation was to receive approximately \$19 million in assets from the Estate of Mr. Mevers. Rather than transfer these assets, Appellant “dissolved” the Foundation. She then began selling and transferring assets which belonged to the Foundation, and she used those assets for her own personal use and benefit. (R. 73-77). Appellant would not agree to a stand-still agreement after continuous efforts at an amicable agreement to maintain the status quo by the Attorney General. (R. 268-269). This led to the emergency situation and the filing of the Petition. (R. 126-129).

Appellant’s counsel (the only one of record at the time) was aware the Attorney General would move for a temporary restraining order to preserve the status quo based upon the failure of Appellant, after her return from international travel, to agree to hold on to the disputed assets until the matter could be resolved. All Appellant had to do to avoid the issue of the Temporary Restraining Order was agree not to sell or transfer assets which the Attorney General contends belong to the Foundation, while the Office completed its review. She blatantly declined twice. (R. 268-269). Because she would not agree to the preserve the status quo, the Attorney General sought the Temporary Restraining Order out of a concern for immediate and irreparable injury, loss, and damage to the Foundation’s assets. The situation required immediate action, prior to notice and a hearing, because of this potential for irreparable harm. The Probate Court had evidence of potential irreparable injury, loss, and damage to the assets, and the Court did not abuse its discretion in issuing the Temporary Restraining Order.

The Probate Court likewise acted within its discretion in reopening the Estate pursuant to the filing of the Attorney General’s petition. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-1008 explains that “. . . for other good cause, the court upon application of any interested person and upon notice as it directs may appoint the same or a successor personal representative to administer the subsequently opened estate.” This language explicitly authorizes the court to reopen an estate pursuant to its inherent authority to prevent dissipation of assets, as the Attorney General demonstrated was a concern in the present case. “Courts have the inherent power to do all things reasonably necessary to ensure that just results are reached to the fullest extent possible.” *Robinson v. Est. of Harris*, 388 S.C. 630, 642, 698 S.E.2d 222, 228 (2010) (quoting *Jones v. Leagan*, 384 S.C. 1, 19, 681 S.E.2d 6, 16 (Ct. App. 2009)). The Court acted appropriately to avoid irreparable loss, injury, or damage given the emergency situation, and by setting a follow-up hearing in the order itself, the Court followed the statutory requirements of directing a hearing. The Court needed to issue the Temporary Restraining Order to ensure a just result, and it did not abuse its discretion in doing so.

II. The Probate Court did not err in appointing J. James Duggan, Esq., as Special Administrator.

Appellant argues the Probate Court erred in appointing a Special Administrator. J. James Duggan, Esq., was appointed Special Administrator by Order of March 13, 2020. (R. 11). This appointment was amended by the Court’s order of June 29, 2020, and the Duggan Law Firm was appointed Special Administrator. (R. 27). Appellant argues that the *ex parte* appointment of J. James Duggan was in error, but she does not separately challenge the later appointment of the Duggan Law Firm. An unappealed ruling is not subject to review and is the law of the case. *McCall v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 359 S.C. 372, 377-78, 597 S.E.2d 181, 184 (Ct. App. 2004).

A. The circuit court did not have subject matter jurisdiction to consider the appointment of J. James Duggan as Special Administrator.

The Order of March 13, 2020, explains as follows: “pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-614, J. James Duggan, Esq. is hereby appointed as Special Administrator of the Estate of Roy E. Mevers, Jr. in order to take appropriate actions involving assets of the Estate of Roy E. Mevers, Jr; it is further ORDERED, ADJUGED, AND DECREED that a hearing on the matter shall be held on March 23, 2020 . . . it is further ORDERED, ADJUDGED, AND DECREED that this Order shall be subject to further Orders of this Court may become necessary.” (R. 9-10). By its very language, this Order was temporary and would be considered again in 10 days. Thus, Mr. Duggan’s appointment as Special Administrator was only valid for 10 days. In fact, the subsequent order appointed the Duggan Law Firm. While this may appear to be a small distinction from the individual to the law firm, it shows a change in the appointment and indicates that Mr. Duggan’s individual appointment ended after 10 days.

In *Estate of Boyce v. Work*, 305 S.C. 43, 406 S.E.2d 184 (Ct. App. 1991), the Probate Court appointed two special administrators of an estate until a personal representative could be formally appointed. This order was appealed to the circuit court, which affirmed. The appellate court found that this was only a temporary order. The Court explained as follows: “Appeals from the probate court are governed by S.C. Code Ann. § 62-1-308 (1987). Subsection (a) thereof provides that only final orders may be appealed. Under these circumstances the Court of Common Pleas lacked subject matter jurisdiction of the temporary order involved in this case. The appealed order is, therefore, vacated and the case is remanded to the probate court for further proceedings.” *Id.* at 44, 406 S.E.2d at 185; *see also Dorn v. Cohen*, 421 S.C. 517, 520, 809 S.E.2d 53, 54 (2017) (holding the Probate Court’s order adding a party to an action to remove co-trustees was not a final order and was thus not immediately appealable).

Just as the appointment of the special administrators in *Estate of Boyce* was temporary, the appointment of James Duggan as Special Administrator was temporary and was only in effect until the second hearing 10 days later. (R. 9). Accordingly, just as the circuit court lacked subject matter jurisdiction to hear the appeal of the Temporary Restraining Order, it also lacked subject matter jurisdiction to hear the appeal of the appointment of a temporary Special Administrator.

B. Standard of Review

If the Court considers the appointment of Mr. Duggan as Special Administrator, the standard of review applicable to cases originating in the Probate Court is controlled by whether the underlying cause of action is at law or in equity. *Matter of Est. of Paradeses*, 426 S.C. 388, 391, 826 S.E.2d 871, 873 (Ct. App. 2019). The appointment of a special administrator is equitable in nature. *See Blackmon v. Weaver*, 366 S.C. 245, 248, 621 S.E.2d 42, 43 (Ct. App. 2005) (holding that an action to remove a personal representative is equitable in nature). “In an equitable action tried without a jury, the appellate court can correct errors of law and may find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence.” *Church v. McGee*, 391 S.C. 334, 342, 705 S.E.2d 481, 485 (Ct. App. 2011) (quoting *Blackmon*, 366 S.C. at 249, 621 S.E.2d at 44).

C. The Probate Court did not err in appointing Mr. Duggan as Special Administrator.

If this Court finds that it can consider the appointment of Mr. Duggan as Special Administrator, it should find that he was properly appointed. S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-614(1)(c) explains that a special administrator may be appointed “informally by the court on the application of an interested person when necessary . . . to take appropriate actions involving estate assets[.]” In the present case, the court had a verified petition showing that there was a need for a special administrator when the Estate was re-opened. The previous Personal Representative, Appellant, had diverted \$19 million in Foundation funds to her personal use and was not willing to preserve

the assets. (R. 8). Accordingly, the court acted appropriately in appointing Mr. Duggan as special administrator.

Appellant focuses on S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-614(2) which requires notice in a formal proceeding to appoint a special administrator. However, the order cites only S.C. Code Ann. § 62-3-614 generally and does not specify which sub-section it is using as authority. The order tracks the language of section (1)(c) in stating that Mr. Duggan was appointed “to take any appropriate actions involving assets of the Estate[.]” (R. 9). Because it appears he was appointed under section (1)(c), no notice was required, especially given the emergency situation.

III. The Probate Court did not abuse its discretion in issuing the Temporary Injunction.

A. Standard of Review

“The granting of temporary injunctive relief is within the sound discretion of the trial court and will not be overturned absent an abuse of that discretion.” *City of Columbia v. Pic-A-Flick Video, Inc.*, 340 S.C. 278, 282, 531 S.E.2d 518, 520–21 (2000). “An abuse of discretion occurs when a trial court’s decision is unsupported by the evidence or controlled by an error of law.” *County of Richland v. Simpkins*, 348 S.C. 664, 668, 560 S.E.2d 902, 904 (Ct. App. 2002).

To warrant a temporary injunction, the complaint must allege facts sufficient to constitute a cause of action for injunction and the information offered by both sides must demonstrate the injunction to be reasonably necessary to protect the legal rights of the plaintiff pending in the litigation. *Transcon. Gas Pipe Line Corp. v. Porter*, 252 S.C. 478, 480–81, 167 S.E.2d 313, 315 (1969). Generally, to obtain an injunction, a party must demonstrate irreparable harm, a likelihood of success on the merits, and an inadequate remedy at law. *Roach v. Combined Util. Comm’n*, 290 S.C. 437, 442, 351 S.E.2d 168, 170 (Ct. App. 1986).

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